
CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511

**Please note that, upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate
the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services. For additional information to
request this service, please contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511

MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA
Beloit City Plan Commission

Wednesday, March 20, 2013 at 7:00 PM
The Forum

Beloit City Hall, First Floor
100 State Street, Beloit

1. Call to Order and Roll Call

2. Approval of the Minutes of the March 6, 2013 Meeting

3. Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map – 1929 and 1999 South Royce Avenue
Review and consideration of a two-lot Certified Survey Map for the properties located on
1929 and 1999 South Royce Avenue in the Town of Beloit

4. Certified Survey Map – Casey’s General Store – 2240 Cranston Road
Review and consideration of a one-lot Certified Survey Map for the property located at
2240 Cranston Road in the City of Beloit

5. Conditional Use Permit – Casey’s General Store - 2240 Cranston Road
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Conditional Use Permit to allow a limited
vehicle service use (gas station) and indoor alcohol sales in a C-2, Neighborhood
Commercial District, for the property located at 2240 Cranston Road

6. Sign Ordinance Exception – Casey’s General Store - 2240 Cranston Road
Public hearing, review and consideration of exceptions to Section 30.40(2)(c) and
30.40(2)(e) of the Outdoor Sign Regulations to allow a secondary, on-premises wall sign to
be larger than 30 square feet in area and to allow more than three (3) secondary, on-
premises signs in a C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District, for the property located at
2240 Cranston Road

7. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items

8. Adjournment

If you are unable to attend this meeting, please contact Gail Riddle in the Planning Office at 364-6700 no
later than 4:00 PM the day before the meeting.

Notice Mailed: March 15, 2013 Approved: Julie Christensen
Community Development Director



CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511

MINUTES
BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION

Wednesday, March 6, 2013
The Forum, Beloit City Hall

100 State Street, Beloit

1. Call to Order and Roll Call
Chairperson Ramsden called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM. Gail Riddle called the roll.
Present was Chairperson Ramsden, Commissioner Jacobsen, Commissioner Faragher,
Commissioner Smith, Commissioner Kelly, and Commissioner Kincaid. Commissioner
Moore and Commissioner Seifarth were absent.

2. Approval of the Minutes of the February 20, 2013 Meeting
Commissioner Faragher moved and Commissioner Kelly seconded a motion to approve the
February 20, 2013 minutes. The minutes were approved. (5-0)

3. Certified Survey Map – Beloit Memorial Hospital - 1650 Lee Lane
Review and consideration of a two-lot Certified Survey Map for the property located at
1650 Lee Lane in the City of Beloit

Commissioner Jacobsen left the room because of a conflict of interest, and therefore
abstained.

Julie Christensen summarized the Staff Report and Staff Recommendation.

Commissioner Kincaid asked if the site plan attached to the packet would be changed any,
and Ms. Christensen said that she was not sure because Drew Pennington is still reviewing
it. Commissioner Kincaid commented that it was small print and he could not read very
well.

Bob Leuenberger, RH Batterman’s, presented a larger copy of the site plan.

Commissioner Kincaid asked if the setback had sufficient space for landscaping, and Ms.
Christensen answered that there was space for landscaping.

Commissioner Kincaid asked if the intermediate school site would have an access point on
Lee Lane.

Brad Lawver, Cornelier’s and president of the I-90/I-39 Business Association, commented
that he was at a meeting with the School District and representatives from Finley-Dencker



Page 2 of 5

and Bud Weiser Motors earlier in the day, and they were talking about the school having
an access road off of Lee Lane and they did not want it because of the excess business
there. Serta was also against an access road off Lee Lane. Mr. Lawver said that he was
concerned about sidewalks and landscaping.

Greg Gaul, Director of Facilities for Beloit Health Systems, commented that one of their
primary concerns based on the visibility of the site is that they want to make it safe and
functional, yet at the same time make it attractive. Mr. Gaul said that the site plan does
not do justice to what it will look like and he gave more details on what the plans would be.

Commissioner Ramsden asked Mr. Gaul if there would be a fence and Mr. Gaul answered
that as of right now, there were no plans for a fence.

Commissioner Faragher moved to approve the Certified Survey Map and Commissioner
Ramsden seconded the motion. The motion carried. (4-0)

4. Certified Survey Map – East Hart Road Immediately East of I-39/I-90
Review and consideration of a one-lot Certified Survey Map for the property located on
East Hart Road immediately east of I-39/I-90 in the Town of Turtle

Ms. Christensen summarized the Staff Report and Staff Recommendation.

Commissioner Faragher moved to approve the Certified Survey Map and Commissioner
Kelly seconded the motion. The motion approved. (5-0)

5. Conditional Use Permit – Self-Service Storage - 3022 Ford Street
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Conditional Use Permit for a self-service
storage use in conjunction with the rental of trucks and trailers in a C-3, Community
Commercial District, for the property located at 3022 Ford Street

Ms. Christensen summarized the Staff Report and Recommendation.

Chairperson Ramsden opened the Public Hearing.

David Pollock, Principal Planner for U-Haul International, stated that they would provide a
positive development. Mr. Pollock commented that they did meet with staff, and the
applicant is willing to meet all of the conditions and work with staff on them. Mr. Pollock
commented that this particular site had been vacant for a number of years, and they would
be able to improve the existing development on the property and provide a viable
business. He added that there would also be employment opportunities for the
community. After Mr. Pollock gave details on what their business was and what it would
bring to the community, he asked that the Board please consider their request for the CUP
approval, adding that they were a sustainable company and are here to help the
community and be a part of the community.



Page 3 of 5

Jim Lorimer, Americo Real Estate, commented that they were a national company and had
an interest in working with the City of Beloit. Mr. Lorimer stated that this is a prime
location for them. They want to create a cohesive campus. They would add landscaping,
fix and replace the metal siding with a texturized panel, replace paving, replace fencing,
creating a brand new look in the building.

Commissioner Faragher asked approximately how many U-haul dealerships there were.
Thomas Odell answered that there were approximately 15,000. Commissioner Faragher
asked what makes Beloit so attractive, and Mr. Odell answered that it is a market that has
not been tapped and he feels it is a good fit.

Brad Lawver, Corneliers and President of the I-90/I-39 Business Association, commented
that his concerns related to looking ahead to the future. Mr. Lawver stated that they were
not against development, but he does not know if that spot would be the right spot for the
U-haul development or the right image that should be displayed on I-90. Mr. Lawver feels
that it would be better to have retail in that area.

Commissioner Kincaid asked if there would be a conflict with the property and the future
interchange, and Mr. Lawver said that he did not think so as long as they stayed within the
parcel boundaries.

Commissioner Faragher commented that the idea that a large retail development would be
coming to this particular location seems a bit ‘iffy’ and problematic. Mr. Lawver stated
that he is hoping that will change.

Commissioner Ramsden said that he feels that the City made a big mistake by allowing the
Pilot gas station to go in that area and that now the City should be careful of boxing out
future retail by putting in another lower use application. Commissioner Faragher stated
that he feels that parcel would be a little small for retail use without changing other uses.

Chairperson Ramsden closed the Public Hearing.

Commissioner Jacobsen commented that she had received one positive and one negative
comment from individuals. She stated that she does not feel that in today’s economy we
should be looking out for the future that never comes. Commissioner Jacobsen added that
she has been here all her life and seen retail go out, but never come in.

Commissioner Faragher commented that if the proposals are going to be met by
developers, it sounds pretty good. Commissioner Kelly commented that it seems very
permanent to her and he feels that once they are there, they will never go away.

Commissioner Kincaid added that appearance is important and everything should add
value to surrounding properties.



Page 4 of 5

Chairperson Ramsden commented that he was surprised that no one was there from the
City, such as Andrew Janke from Economic Development, to expand on their reason for
recommending denial.

Commissioner Faragher moved to approve the Conditional Use Permit subject to
conditions recommended by staff, for 3022 Ford Street and Commissioner Jacobsen
seconded the motion. The motion carried with Commissioners Ramsden, Jacobsen, and
Faragher voting ‘aye’ and Commissioners Smith and Kelly voting ‘nay’. (3-2)

6. Alley Vacation – North-South Alley Located in the Block Bound by North Street, Sixth
Street, Olympian Boulevard and Fourth Street
Public hearing, review and consideration of the vacation of an unnamed north-south alley
located in the block bound by North Street, Sixth Street, Olympian Boulevard, and Fourth
Street

Ms. Christensen summarized the Staff Report and Staff Recommendation.

Chairperson Ramsden opened and closed the Public Hearing.

Commissioner Jacobsen moved and Commissioner Faragher seconded a motion to approve
the Alley Vacation. The motion carried.

7. Comprehensive Plan Amendment – 1528 and 1532 Forest Avenue and 1533 W. Grand
Avenue
Public hearing, review and consideration of an amendment to the Future Land Use Map of
the City’s Comprehensive Plan from Single-Family Residential – Urban to Institutional and
Community Services for the properties located at 1528 and 1532 Forest Avenue and 1533
W. Grand Avenue

Ms. Christensen summarized the Staff Report and Staff Recommendation.

Chairperson Ramsden opened the Public Hearing.

Janelle Marotz, School District of Beloit, was present to answer questions.

Commissioner Faragher asked approximately how much it would cost to purchase
properties.

Ms. Marotz answered that all three properties had been purchased and the cost for two of
them were around $40,000 and the other was around $60,000.

Commissioner Smith asked if the two properties to the west were residential, and Ms.
Christensen answered that they were.



Page 5 of 5

Commissioner Kincaid asked if there were plans for landscaping, adding that the primary
mission is for education, but there also needs to be green space. Ms. Marotz stated that
adding green space and play space is one of their primary missions.

Commissioner Faragher made a motion to approve and Commissioner Smith seconded the
motion to approve the Comprehensive Plan Amendment. The motion carried. (5-0)

8. Ordinance to Amend Various Sections of the Code of General Ordinances of the City of
Beloit Pertaining to the Reorganization of the Community Development Department
Public hearing, review and consideration of an amendment to various sections of the Code
of General Ordinances of the City of Beloit Pertaining to the Reorganization of the
Community Development Department

Ms. Christensen summarized the Staff Report and Staff Recommendation.

Chairperson Ramsden opened and closed the Public Hearing.

Commissioner Faragher moved and Commissioner Kelly seconded a motion to approve the
Ordinance. The motion carried. (5-0)

9. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items
Ms. Christensen informed the Commission that the Wellhead Protection Ordinance did go
to Council and it was laid over until the April 1 meeting. The Connections City Center plan
was approved. The Comprehensive Plan Amendment for the School District for Hackett and
the High School was approved. Also, the Comprehensive Plan Amendment for 501
Prospect was approved.

10. Adjournment
The meeting adjourned at 8:14 PM.

Respectively submitted,
Gail Riddle



Page 2 of 5

and Bud Weiser Motors earlier in the day, and they were talking about the school having
an access road off of Lee Lane and they did not want it because of the excess business
there. Serta was also against an access road off Lee Lane. Mr. Lawver said that he was
concerned about sidewalks and landscaping.

Greg Gaul, Director of Facilities for Beloit Health Systems, commented that one of their
primary concerns based on the visibility of the site is that they want to make it safe and
functional, yet at the same time make it attractive. Mr. Gaul said that the site plan does
not do justice to what it will look like and he gave more details on what the plans would be.

Commissioner Ramsden asked Mr. Gaul if there would be a fence and Mr. Gaul answered
that as of right now, there were no plans for a fence.

Commissioner Faragher moved to approve the Certified Survey Map and Commissioner
Ramsden seconded the motion. The motion carried. (4-0)

4. Certified Survey Map – East Hart Road Immediately East of I-39/I-90
Review and consideration of a one-lot Certified Survey Map for the property located on
East Hart Road immediately east of I-39/I-90 in the Town of Turtle

Ms. Christensen summarized the Staff Report and Staff Recommendation.

Commissioner Faragher moved to approve the Certified Survey Map and Commissioner
Kelly seconded the motion. The motion approved. (5-0)

5. Conditional Use Permit – Self-Service Storage - 3022 Ford Street
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Conditional Use Permit for a self-service
storage use in conjunction with the rental of trucks and trailers in a C-3, Community
Commercial District, for the property located at 3022 Ford Street

Ms. Christensen summarized the Staff Report and Recommendation.

Chairperson Ramsden opened the Public Hearing.

David Pollock, Principal Planner for U-Haul International, stated that they would provide a
positive development. Mr. Pollock commented that they did meet with staff, and the
applicant is willing to meet all of the conditions and work with staff on them. Mr. Pollock
commented that this particular site had been vacant for a number of years, and they would
be able to improve the existing development on the property and provide a viable
business. He added that there would also be employment opportunities for the
community. After Mr. Pollock gave details on what their business was and what it would
bring to the community, he asked that the Board please consider their request for the CUP
approval, adding that they were a sustainable company and are here to help the
community and be a part of the community.



Page 3 of 5

Jim Lorimer, Americo Real Estate, commented that they were a national company and had
an interest in working with the City of Beloit. Mr. Lorimer stated that this is a prime
location for them. They want to create a cohesive campus. They would add landscaping,
fix and replace the metal siding with a texturized panel, replace paving, replace fencing,
creating a brand new look in the building.

Commissioner Faragher asked approximately how many U-haul dealerships there were.
Thomas Odell answered that there were approximately 15,000. Commissioner Faragher
asked what makes Beloit so attractive, and Mr. Odell answered that it is a market that has
not been tapped and he feels it is a good fit.

Brad Lawver, Corneliers and President of the I-90/I-39 Business Association, commented
that his concerns related to looking ahead to the future. Mr. Lawver stated that they were
not against development, but he does not know if that spot would be the right spot for the
U-haul development or the right image that should be displayed on I-90. Mr. Lawver feels
that it would be better to have retail in that area.

Commissioner Kincaid asked if there would be a conflict with the property and the future
interchange, and Mr. Lawver said that he did not think so as long as they stayed within the
parcel boundaries.

Commissioner Faragher commented that the idea that a large retail development would be
coming to this particular location seems a bit ‘iffy’ and problematic. Mr. Lawver stated
that he is hoping that will change.

Commissioner Ramsden said that he feels that the City made a big mistake by allowing the
Pilot gas station to go in that area and that now the City should be careful of boxing out
future retail by putting in another lower use application. Commissioner Faragher stated
that he feels that parcel would be a little small for retail use without changing other uses.

Chairperson Ramsden closed the Public Hearing.

Commissioner Jacobsen commented that she had received one positive and one negative
comment from individuals. She stated that she does not feel that in today’s economy we
should be looking out for the future that never comes. Commissioner Jacobsen added that
she has been here all her life and seen retail go out, but never come in.

Commissioner Faragher commented that if the proposals are going to be met by
developers, it sounds pretty good. Commissioner Kelly commented that it seems very
permanent to her and he feels that once they are there, they will never go away.

Commissioner Kincaid added that appearance is important and everything should add
value to surrounding properties.



Page 4 of 5

Chairperson Ramsden commented that he was surprised that no one was there from the
City, such as Andrew Janke from Economic Development, to expand on their reason for
recommending denial.

Commissioner Faragher moved to approve the Conditional Use Permit subject to
conditions recommended by staff, for 3022 Ford Street and Commissioner Jacobsen
seconded the motion. The motion carried with Commissioners Ramsden, Jacobsen, and
Faragher voting ‘aye’ and Commissioners Smith and Kelly voting ‘nay’. (3-2)

6. Alley Vacation – North-South Alley Located in the Block Bound by North Street, Sixth
Street, Olympian Boulevard and Fourth Street
Public hearing, review and consideration of the vacation of an unnamed north-south alley
located in the block bound by North Street, Sixth Street, Olympian Boulevard, and Fourth
Street

Ms. Christensen summarized the Staff Report and Staff Recommendation.

Chairperson Ramsden opened and closed the Public Hearing.

Commissioner Jacobsen moved and Commissioner Faragher seconded a motion to approve
the Alley Vacation. The motion carried.

7. Comprehensive Plan Amendment – 1528 and 1532 Forest Avenue and 1533 W. Grand
Avenue
Public hearing, review and consideration of an amendment to the Future Land Use Map of
the City’s Comprehensive Plan from Single-Family Residential – Urban to Institutional and
Community Services for the properties located at 1528 and 1532 Forest Avenue and 1533
W. Grand Avenue

Ms. Christensen summarized the Staff Report and Staff Recommendation.

Chairperson Ramsden opened the Public Hearing.

Janelle Marotz, School District of Beloit, was present to answer questions.

Commissioner Faragher asked approximately how much it would cost to purchase
properties.

Ms. Marotz answered that all three properties had been purchased and the cost for two of
them were around $40,000 and the other was around $60,000.

Commissioner Smith asked if the two properties to the west were residential, and Ms.
Christensen answered that they were.



Page 5 of 5

Commissioner Kincaid asked if there were plans for landscaping, adding that the primary
mission is for education, but there also needs to be green space. Ms. Marotz stated that
adding green space and play space is one of their primary missions.

Commissioner Faragher made a motion to approve and Commissioner Smith seconded the
motion to approve the Comprehensive Plan Amendment. The motion carried. (5-0)

8. Ordinance to Amend Various Sections of the Code of General Ordinances of the City of
Beloit Pertaining to the Reorganization of the Community Development Department
Public hearing, review and consideration of an amendment to various sections of the Code
of General Ordinances of the City of Beloit Pertaining to the Reorganization of the
Community Development Department

Ms. Christensen summarized the Staff Report and Staff Recommendation.

Chairperson Ramsden opened and closed the Public Hearing.

Commissioner Faragher moved and Commissioner Kelly seconded a motion to approve the
Ordinance. The motion carried. (5-0)

9. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items
Ms. Christensen informed the Commission that the Wellhead Protection Ordinance did go
to Council and it was laid over until the April 1 meeting. The Connections City Center plan
was approved. The Comprehensive Plan Amendment for the School District for Hackett and
the High School was approved. Also, the Comprehensive Plan Amendment for 501
Prospect was approved.

10. Adjournment
The meeting adjourned at 8:14 PM.

Respectively submitted,
Gail Riddle



March 20 Staff Report, CSM, 1929 and 1999 Royce Avenue (TOB).docx 

 

CITY OF BELOIT 

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 

Meeting Date: March 20, 2013 

 

Agenda Item: 3 File Number: CSM-2013-05 

Applicant: Wisconsin Power and Light 
Company 

 

Owner of Propose Lot 1: Wisconsin 
Power and Light Company 
 

Owner of Proposed Lot 2: Barbara S. 
Atwood 

Location: 1929 and 1999 South Royce 
Avenue, Town of Beloit 

Existing Zoning: I-1, Light Industrial 
District (Town Zoning) 

Existing Land Use: Utility and 
Manufacturing 

CSM Area: 0.447 Acres 

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
In accordance with Section 12.05 of the Subdivision Ordinance, the applicant has submitted an Application for Review of a Minor 
Subdivision and two-lot preliminary Certified Survey Map (CSM) for the properties located at 1929 and1999 South Royce Avenue 
in the Town of Beloit within the City’s Extraterritorial Jurisdiction. The attached Location & Zoning Map shows the location of the 
property involved in this application.  
 
 
Key Issues: 

 The proposed CSM transfers 7,170 square feet between adjoining property owners. Essentially, 50-feet of land will be 
acquired by the property owner of proposed Lot 1 from the property owner of proposed Lot 2 to allow for an expansion of a 
substation on proposed Lot 1.  

 Proposed Lot 1 is 0.447 acres in area and is located at the intersection of Eddy Avenue and South Royce Avenue on the 
northeast corner. It includes approximately 150-feet of frontage on South Royce Avenue.   

 Proposed Lot 2 is 1.299 acres and is located south of Lot 1. It has 325.4 feet of frontage on South Royce Avenue. 
 The City’s Review Agents have not submitted any comments, concerns, or recommendations. 

 
 
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  
The Comprehensive Plan recommends Planned Mixed Use for the subject property. The underlying utility use is consistent with 
recommended land uses for this future land use category. Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5. 

 

Sustainability: 

 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 

 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 

 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 

 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 

The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of the attached two-lot Certified Survey Map (CSM) for the 
properties located at 1929 and 1999 South Royce Avenue in the Town of Beloit, subject to the following condition: 
 

1. The applicant shall record the CSM with the Rock County Register of Deeds and shall provide the Planning and Building 
Services Division with a copy of the recorded CSM by December 31, 2013. 

 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A 

 

Attachments: Location Map,  Application, CSM, and Resolution. 



March 20 Staff Report, CSM, 1929 and 1999 Royce Avenue (TOB).docx 

 

 



March 20 Staff Report, CSM, 1929 and 1999 Royce Avenue (TOB).docx 

 

 



March 20 Staff Report, CSM, 1929 and 1999 Royce Avenue (TOB).docx 

 



March 20 Staff Report, CSM, 1929 and 1999 Royce Avenue (TOB).docx 

 



March 20 Staff Report, CSM, 1929 and 1999 Royce Avenue (TOB).docx 

RESOLUTION 

APPROVING A TWO-LOT CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 

FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1929 AND 1999 SOUTH ROYCE AVENUE 

IN THE TOWN OF BELOIT 

 

WHEREAS, Section 12.05(1)b of Chapter 12 of the Code of General Ordinances of the City of Beloit 

entitled “Subdivision and Official Map Ordinance” authorizes the City Plan Commission of the City of Beloit 

to approve, conditionally approve, or reject any minor subdivision of land within the extraterritorial jurisdiction 

of the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the attached two-lot Certified Survey Map for the property located at 1999 South Royce 

Avenue in the Town of Beloit is located within the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission of the City of Beloit has reviewed the proposed  

two-lot Certified Survey Map, which pertains to the following described land: 

 

PART OF BLOCK 9 OF PERRIGO PLACE ADDITION, RECORDED IN ROCK 

COUNTY REGISTER OF DEEDS IN VOL. 7 PG.  59, BEING PART OF THE SW 1/4 OF 

THE SE 1/4 OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP1 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE 4TH 

PM., TOWN OF BELOIT, ROCK COUNTY, WISCONSIN (A/K/A 1929 and 1999 South 

Royce Avenue)  Containing 1.744 acres, more or less. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the City Plan Commission of the City of Beloit 

does hereby approve the attached two-lot Certified Survey Map for the properties located at 1929 and 1999 

South Royce Avenue in the Town of Beloit, subject to the following condition: 

 

1. The applicant shall record the CSM with the Rock County Register of Deeds and shall provide the 

Planning and Building Services Division with a copy of the recorded CSM by December 31, 2013. 

 

 

Adopted this 20
th
 day of March, 2013. 

 

 

   

                                                                                         Plan Commission Representative 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 ___ 

Julie Christensen, Community Development Director 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



March 20 Staff Report, CSM, 2240 Cranston Road.docx2240 Cranston Road   

CITY OF BELOIT 

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 

Meeting Date: March 20, 2013 

 

Agenda Item: 4 File Number: CSM-2013-04 

Applicant: Arc Design Resources, Inc. Owner: S Kent Roberts Cranston 
Development Corporation 
 

Location: 2240 Cranston Road 

 

Existing Zoning: C-2, Neighborhood 
Commercial District 

Existing Land Use: Vacant Land Total Area: 8.8202 Acres 

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
Arc Design Resources, Inc., on behalf of Casey’s General Stores, Inc., has submitted an Application for the Review of a Minor 
Subdivision and one-Lot Certified Survey Map (CSM) for the property located at 2240 Cranston Road. According to Section 
12.05(1)(c) of the Subdivision Ordinance, the Plan Commission may make a  recommendation to the City Council to approve, 
conditionally approve, or deny any minor subdivision that involves the dedication of public lands  within the City. 
 
 
Key Issues: 

 The intent of the proposed CSM is to create a buildable parcel for a proposed gas station. 
 The gas station would be constructed on proposed Lot 1, which will be 2.697 acres in area. Proposed Lot 1 includes 

404 feet of frontage on Cranston Road and 427 feet of frontage on Shopiere Road. The remaining parent parcel will be 
6.12 acres in area. 

 The Subdivision Ordinance  requires the remainder of the parent parcel to  be included on the final CSM and labeled 
as Lot 2 since it is less than 40 acres in size.  

 Proposed Lot 1 will be addressed as 2350 Cranston Road because the primary driveway will be on Cranston Road. 
The property will also be accessible through a secondary driveway on Shopiere Road. 

 The proposed lot complies with the minimum lot width, lot area, and setback standards for properties in the C-2 
District. 

 The CSM includes a right-of-way dedication that is 15-feet wide along Shopiere Road, extending 415-feet. 
 The City Engineer has requested that additional right-of-way be dedicated. The right-of way should begin at the 

intersection of Cranston Road and Shopiere Road and extend west roughly 100-feet, or to the point where the left 
turning lane for eastbound traffic on Cranston Road begins.  

 In addition, the City Engineer will only allow one access driveway or curb cut on Cranston Road for both the parent 
parcel and proposed Lot-1. Another access driveway to Cranston Road will not be approved in the future for the parent 
parcel. A joint access agreement should be shown and recorded on the final CSM between the parent parcel and 
proposed Lot-1.  

 The City’s other Review Agents have reviewed the proposed CSM and have not submitted any comments. 
 
 
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  
The City’s Comprehensive Plan recommends the Neighborhood Commercial future land use category for the subject property. 
The underlying C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District is consistent with this recommendation. Consideration of this request 
supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5. 

 

Sustainability: 

 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 

 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 

 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 

 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 

The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the attached one-lot Certified Survey Map (CSM) for the 
property located at 2240 Cranston Road in the City of Beloit, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. Proposed Lot-1 shall be addressed as 2350 Cranston Road.  
2. An additional 10-feet of right-of-way shall be dedicated along Cranston Road. The right-of way should begin at the 

intersection of Cranston Road and Shopiere Road and extend west roughly 100-feet. This right-of-way dedication shall 
be shown and recorded on the final CSM.  



March 20 Staff Report, CSM, 2240 Cranston Road.docx2240 Cranston Road   

3. The final CSM shall note the joint access agreement between the parent parcel and proposed Lot-1.  
4. The final CSM shall include the entire parent parcel. 
5. The applicant shall record the CSM with the Rock County Register of Deeds and shall provide the Planning and 

Building Services Division with a copy of the recorded CSM by December 31, 2013. 
6. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds before Building Permits to construct the gas 

station facility will be issued. 

 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A 

 

Attachments: Location & Zoning Map, CSM, and Application 
 



March 20 Staff Report, CSM, 2240 Cranston Road.docx2240 Cranston Road   

 



March 20 Staff Report, CSM, 2240 Cranston Road.docx2240 Cranston Road   

 



March 20 Staff Report, CSM, 2240 Cranston Road.docx2240 Cranston Road   



March 20 Staff Report, CSM, 2240 Cranston Road.docx2240 Cranston Road   



March 20 Staff Report, CSM, 2240 Cranston Road.docx2240 Cranston Road   

 



March 20 Staff Report, CUP, 2240 Cranston Road.docx 

CITY OF BELOIT 

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 

Meeting Date: March 20, 2013 

 

Agenda Item: 5 File Number: CU-2013-03 

Applicant: Arc Design Resources 

 

Owner: Cranston Development 
Company 

Location: 2240 Cranston Road 

Existing Zoning: C-2, Neighborhood 
Commercial District  

Existing Land Use: Vacant Land 

Proposed Land Use: Gas Station & 
Indoor Alcohol Sales 

Parcel Size: 8.8202 Acres 

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
Ryan Swanson of Arc Design Resources, Inc., on behalf of Casey’s General Stores, Inc., has filed an application for a 
Conditional Use Permit to allow a limited vehicle service use (gas station) and indoor alcohol sales in a C-2, Neighborhood 
Commercial District for the property located at 2240 Cranston Road. 
 
 
Key Issues: 

 The applicant is in the process of acquiring the subject property from its current owner. The acquisition of the property 
is contingent upon whether or not the Conditional Use Permit (CUP) is granted. The applicant intends to construct and 
establish a Casey’s General Store (gas station) with indoor alcohol sales.   

 Gas station uses and indoor alcohol sales are conditional uses in C-2, Neighborhood Commercial Districts. 
 The property is approximately 8.8202 acres in area and has never been developed. The property is adjacent to 

residential neighborhoods to the east and south, and commercial offices to the north and west. 
  A One-Lot Certified Survey Map (CSM) has been commissioned by the applicant to create one lot that is 2.842 acres, 

which will be the site for the proposed gas station if the CUP is approved.  
 A one story,  4,355 square foot building is proposed as a convenience store along with a gasoline island canopy with 

10 dispensers (double stacked, five on each side), and 22 off-street parking stalls, including 1 accessible parking stall. 
The applicant has satisfied all off-street parking requirements.  

 The business would operate 24-hours, seven days a week, and offer to sell beer and wine to its customers. This may 
be problematic as there are single-family residential neighborhoods and offices in close proximity to the subject 
property. The 24-hour operation and sale of beer and wine may negatively affect the use and enjoyment of property 
within the neighborhoods.  

 The applicant has proposed a primary driveway on Cranston Road and a secondary driveway on Shopiere Road. 
 Staff is concerned with the proposed layout of the site, more specifically, the orientation of the proposed building and 

gas island canopy. The property is located in one of the City’s office corridors, the area from the intersection of 
Cranston Road and Shopiere Road heading west toward Prairie Avenue, which has developed overtime as a cluster of 
office and public and institutional uses. In addition, the proposed 24-hour gas station will generate a continuous flow of 
activity and traffic, which may disturb the single-family neighborhoods adjacent to the property.  These concerns were 
discussed with the applicant during the pre-application meeting. To allay the abovementioned concerns, staff suggests 
that the proposed building and canopy be reoriented, whereby the building is moved closer to the  intersection and the 
building entrance and canopy shifted to face the west side of the lot. This reorientation would solve the two concerns 
by maintaining the integrity and appearance of the office corridor and providing the adjacent single-family 
neighborhoods with a visual and sound buffer from the potential activity that will be generated from this use.       

 The attached Location and Zoning Map shows the location of the parcel involved in this application. The adjacent 
zoning and land uses are as follows: 

  North: C-1, Office District & R-1A, Single-Family Residential District; Office (Funeral Home, Dentist Office, 
Bank, Real Estate Office, etc.) and Single-Family Residential and Park Land 

  South: C-1, Office District; (Single-Family Residential) 
  East: R-2, Two-Family Residential (Single-Family Residential) 

West: C-1, Office District; (Blackhawk Bank) 
 Public facilities and infrastructure exist in this area.  
 A preliminary Site Plan and other supporting documents are attached to this report. 
 If the requested Conditional Use Permit is approved, the applicant will need to submit detailed site & architectural plans 

for staff review and approval. 
 The City’s Review Agents have reviewed this application and have not submitted any comments or concerns regarding 

the proposed conditional use. 
 The attached Public Notice was sent to nineteen (19) nearby property owners. As of this writing, staff has not received 

any comments or concerns. 
 



March 20 Staff Report, CUP, 2240 Cranston Road.docx 

 Findings of Fact 
Based on Section 2-504 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan Commission shall make a recommendation based on 
the following considerations: 

a. Whether the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the conditional use will be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 

 Subject to certain conditions of approval, the proposed conditional use will not be detrimental to 
or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare. 

b. Whether the conditional use will be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 
vicinity for purposes already permitted; 

 The proposed conditional use may be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for purposes already permitted as currently planned. 

 As mentioned above, the proposed 24-hour operation of the business along with the sale of 
alcohol has the potential to negatively affect the single-family residential neighborhoods in close 
proximity to the subject property. If the hours of operation for the business are limited to a 
reasonable timeframe that coincides with nearby office uses and respects the activity patterns of 
the single-family residential neighborhoods (e.g. wake and sleep patterns), then the proposed 
conditional use is less likely to be injurious.   

c. Whether the conditional use will substantially diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood 
of the subject property; 

 If the proposed conditions are imposed, the proposed conditional use will not diminish or impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

d. Whether the establishment of the conditional use will impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property; 

 The establishment of the conditional use may impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of surrounding property as currently planned. 

 The subject property is located in an office corridor, which has exclusively developed over time for 
office and institutional uses. The way in which the proposed gas station will operate and appear is 
one of many determining factors in how the surrounding properties may develop in the future. The 
current office development patterns of the area must factor into the design.   

e. Whether the exterior architectural design or site layout of the proposed conditional use is so dissimilar or 
otherwise incompatible with existing or proposed development in the immediate neighborhood that it will 
cause a depreciation in property values; 

 The proposed layout includes a one-story building with a gasoline island canopy, and 22 off street 
parking stalls, which will be highly visible from the public rights-of-ways on Cranston Road and 
Shopiere Road. As mentioned above, the property is adjacent to single-family residential 
neighborhoods and is within an office corridor. The proposed site layout may be detrimental to the 
appearance and integrity of the office corridor and disturb the normal activity patterns of single-
family residential neighborhoods. Therefore, the proposed layout is incompatible with existing 
development in the neighborhood. 

 Staff recommends that the applicant change the site layout as mentioned above (i.e. reorient 
building and gasoline island canopy) to be compatible with existing development.  

 Detailed building elevations & materials will be reviewed by staff during Architectural Review. 
f. Whether adequate utilities, access roads, drainage or other necessary facilities will be available to serve 

the proposed use at the time of its occupancy or use; 

 Adequate facilities and infrastructure are available to serve the conditional use. 
g. Whether adequate measures will be taken to minimize traffic congestion; and  

 The proposed conditional use includes adequate off-street parking and is not expected to cause 
traffic congestion. 

h. Whether the conditional use will comply with all applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 The conditional use will comply with all other applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance. 
 
 
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  
The City’s Comprehensive Plan recommends Neighborhood Commercial for the subject property and the surrounding parcels. 
The underlying C-2 District is consistent with comprehensive plan. Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic 
Goal #5. 

 

Sustainability: 

 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 

 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 

 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 

 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 



March 20 Staff Report, CUP, 2240 Cranston Road.docx 

 

Staff Recommendation: 

The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow a limited vehicle service 
use (gas station) and indoor alcohol sales in a C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District for the property located at 2240 
Cranston Road, based on the above Findings of Fact and subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. This Conditional Use Permit authorizes a gas station with 10 pumps  and beer and wine sales in a C-2, Neighborhood 
Commercial District. 

2. The applicant shall obtain and retain all applicable liquor licenses while the conditional use is established and 
maintained. 

3. The convenience store and gas pumps may only operate between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 11:00 p.m. 
4. The building shall be rotated so that the front faces northwest and the building shall be located as close to the 

Cranston Road/Shopiere Road intersection as possible, given minimum building setbacks and the vision triangle.  The 
setback areas between the building and the intersection may not be paved and shall be grass or landscaping.  The 
exterior building walls shall be entirely brick, with the exception of at least two windows (real or faux) on all sides.  The 
gas pump canopy shall be located to the west of the building so that the pumps are screened when viewed from the 
intersection. 

5. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan Commission and 
City Council by amending this Conditional Use Permit. The Director of Planning & Building Services may approve 
minor changes administratively. 

 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A 

 

Attachments: Location & Zoning Map, Conceptual Plans, Photographs, Rendering, Site Plan, Application, Public Notice, and 
Mailing List. 
 



March 20 Staff Report, CUP, 2240 Cranston Road.docx 



March 20 Staff Report, CUP, 2240 Cranston Road.docx 

 

East Side of Property from Shopiere Road 

North Side of Property from Cranston Road 
 



March 20 Staff Report, CUP, 2240 Cranston Road.docx 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Offices on Cranston Road 

Single-Family Neighborhood on Shopiere Road 



March 20 Staff Report, CUP, 2240 Cranston Road.docx 



March 20 Staff Report, CUP, 2240 Cranston Road.docx  



March 20 Staff Report, CUP, 2240 Cranston Road.docx 



March 20 Staff Report, CUP, 2240 Cranston Road.docx 

 



March 20 Staff Report, CUP, 2240 Cranston Road.docx 

 

 

 



March 20 Staff Report, CUP, 2240 Cranston Road.docx  



March 20 Staff Report, SOE,2240 Cranston Road.docx  

 

CITY OF BELOIT 
REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 

Meeting Date: March 20, 2013 

 

Agenda Item: 6 File Number: SOE-2013-01 

Applicant: Arc Design Resources 

 

Owner: Cranston Development 
Company 

Location: 2240 Cranston Road 

Existing Zoning: C-2, Neighborhood 
Commercial  

Existing Land Use: Vacant Land 

Proposed Land Use: Gas Station 

Parcel Size: 8.8202 Acres 

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
Arc Design Resources, Inc. has filed an application, on behalf of Casey’s General Store, Inc., for exceptions to the Outdoor 
Sign Regulations (the “Sign Ordinance”) to Section 30.40(2)(c) to allow a secondary, on-premises wall sign to be larger than 30 
square feet in area and to Section 30.40(2)(e) to allow more than 3 secondary, on-premises signs in a C-2, Neighborhood 
Commercial District, for the property located at 2240 Cranston Road. 
 
 
Key Issues: 

 The applicant intends to construct a new gas station on the subject property contingent upon approval of the 
associated Conditional Use Permit and Certified Survey Map. 

 The applicant has proposed a total of five (5) secondary wall signs on the front façade of the proposed building. One 
secondary wall sign will be 64-square feet in area (labeled as Sign No. 2), two secondary wall signs advertising “To Go” 
(labeled as Sign No. 1 & 3) will be 13-square feet in area, and two additional secondary wall signs (labeled as Sign No. 
4 & 5) will be 24-square feet and 9-square feet, respectively. Graphics of the proposed wall signs are attached to this 
report.    

 The proposed 64-square foot wall sign will be located on the building façade in the center of the gable and is internally 
illuminated.  

 The two additional signs are 9-square feet and 24-square feet in area, and will be changeable by a snap frame border. 
Both proposed signs are well below the 30-square foot requirement for secondary signs.  

 The proposed primary sign is a freestanding ground sign with an Electronically Variable Message (EVM) sign face, will 
be 53-square feet in area, and will be located on the northeast corner of the lot near the Cranston Road and Shopiere 
Road intersection. The primary sign is well below the 150-square foot maximum that is allowed in the C-2 District.  

 The proposed sign package is the standard template used for all Casey’s General Store gas stations in the region. 
 The attached Location and Zoning Map shows the location of the parcel involved in this application. The adjacent 

zoning and land uses are as follows: 
  North: C-1, Office District & R-1A, Single-Family Residential District; Office (Funeral Home, Dentist Office, 

Bank, Real Estate Office, etc.) and Single-Family Residential and Park Land 
  South: C-1, Office District; (Single-Family Residential) 
  East: R-2, Two-Family Residential (Single-Family Residential) 

West: C-1, Office District; (Blackhawk Bank) 
 According to the Sign Ordinance, the Plan Commission may grant an exception if it determines that compliance will 

create an economic hardship, the hardship is not self-created, and the exception will not undermine the purpose of the 
Sign Ordinance or the public interest. 

 The application, which is attached to this report, includes a statement relating to hardship. According to the applicant, 
compliance with the strict letter of the Sign Ordinance would limit their ability to advertise their brand and services. 

 The attached Public Notice was sent to nineteen (19) nearby property owners. As of this writing, staff has not received 
any comments or concerns. 

 Findings of Fact 
Section 30.48(2) of the Sign Ordinance outlines standards for granting an exception.  The Ordinance states that 
the Plan Commission may grant an exception if it determines that: 

a. Compliance with the strict letter of the Sign Ordinance would create an economic hardship by either 
unreasonably restricting an on-premises sign owner from advertising a business or rendering conformity 
with such regulations unnecessarily burdensome upon an owner of an on-premises sign. 

 The subject property is a corner lot with public streets on the north and east sides. Though the 
site is highly visible from Cranston Road and Shopiere Road, limiting this site to three wall signs 
would place an unnecessary burden upon the applicant.  

b. The hardship is not self-created. 

 The hardship resulting from strict compliance with the secondary, on-premises wall sign 
standards is not self-created. 



March 20 Staff Report, SOE,2240 Cranston Road.docx  

c. The exception will not undermine the purpose of the Sign Ordinance or the public interest. 
 The proposed exceptions to the secondary, on-premises wall sign standards will not undermine 

the purpose of the Sign Ordinance.  
 
 
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  
The subject property’s underlying zoning district classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. Consideration of this 
request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5. 

 

Sustainability: (Briefly comment on the sustainable long term impact of this policy or program related to how it will impact both 
the built and natural environment utilizing the four following eco-municipality guidelines) 
 

 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 

 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature - N/A 

 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 

 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 

The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of exceptions to Section 30.40(2)(c) to allow a secondary, 
on-premises wall sign to be larger than 30 square feet in area; and to Section 30.40(2)(e) to allow more than 3 secondary, on-
premises signs in a C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District, for the property located at 2240 Cranston Road, based on the 
above Findings of Fact and subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The applicant may install one secondary, on-premises wall sign at a maximum size of 64 square feet. 
2. The applicant may install two additional secondary wall signs on the front façade of the proposed building for a 

maximum of five secondary, on-premises wall signs. The additional two wall signs may be a maximum of 30 square 
feet or under 30 square feet in area. 

3. The applicant or sign contractor shall obtain a Sign Permit before installing the signs. 
4. Any major changes in the adopted conditions of this Sign Ordinance Exception shall be approved by the Plan 

Commission. The Director of Planning & Building Services may approve minor changes administratively. 

 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A 

 

Attachments: Location & Zoning Map, Photos, Sign Specifications, Site Plan, Application, Public Notice, and Resolution. 
 



March 20 Staff Report, SOE,2240 Cranston Road.docx  



March 20 Staff Report, SOE,2240 Cranston Road.docx  

Site Plan 



March 20 Staff Report, SOE,2240 Cranston Road.docx  

 

Architectural Elevation Showing Proposed Signage 



March 20 Staff Report, SOE,2240 Cranston Road.docx   

Proposed 64 Square Foot Wall Sign 



March 20 Staff Report, SOE,2240 Cranston Road.docx   

Proposed Secondary Wall Signs (Not the Two Additional Wall Signs) 



March 20 Staff Report, SOE,2240 Cranston Road.docx  

Proposed Primary Ground Sign with EVM Sign Face 

 



March 20 Staff Report, SOE,2240 Cranston Road.docx  

 

 



March 20 Staff Report, SOE,2240 Cranston Road.docx  

 

 



March 20 Staff Report, SOE,2240 Cranston Road.docx  

 



 

 



 

 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING EXCEPTIONS TO 

THE SIGN ORDINANCE FOR THE PROPERTY 

LOCATED AT 2240 CRANSTON ROAD 

 

WHEREAS, the application of Arc Design Resources, on behalf of Casey’s General Store, Inc., for 

exceptions to the Outdoor Sign Regulations (the “Sign Ordinance”) to Section 30.40(2)(c) to allow a 

secondary, on-premises wall sign to be larger than 30 square feet in area; and to Section 30.40(2)(e) to allow 

more than 3 secondary, on-premises signs in a C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District, for the property 

located at 2240 Cranston Road, having been considered by the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit, 

Wisconsin at a public hearing held for that purpose. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, that the Plan Commission of the City of 

Beloit, Rock County, Wisconsin does hereby grant exceptions to Section 30.40(2)(c) to allow a secondary, on-

premises wall sign to be larger than 30 square feet in area; and to Section 30.40(2)(e) to allow more than 3 

secondary, on-premises signs in a C-2, Neighborhood Commercial District, for the property located at 2240 

Cranston Road in the City of Beloit, for the following described premises: 

 

Lot 2 of a Certified Survey Map as recorded in Volume 12 on Page 239 and 240 of the 

Certified Survey Maps of Rock County, located in the City of Beloit, County of Rock, State of 

Wisconsin.  Said parcel contains 8.82 acres, more or less. (a/k/a 2240 Cranston Road). 

 

This exception is subject to the following conditions: 
1. The applicant may install one secondary, on-premises wall sign at a maximum size of 64 square feet. 
2. The applicant may install two additional secondary wall signs on the front façade of the proposed 

building for a maximum of five secondary, on-premises wall signs. The additional two wall signs may 
be a maximum of 30 square feet or under 30 square feet in area. 

3. The applicant or sign contractor shall obtain a Sign Permit before installing the signs. 
4. Any major changes in the adopted conditions of this Sign Ordinance Exception shall be approved by 

the Plan Commission. The Director of Planning & Building Services may approve minor changes 
administratively. 

 

Adopted this 20
th
 day of March, 2013. 

 

 PLAN COMMISSION 

 

 

   

          Plan Commission Representative  

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 ___ 

Julie Christensen, Community Development Director 

 


	Call to Order and Roll Call
	Approval of the Minutes of the March 6, 2013 Meeting
	Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map - 1929 and 1999 Royce Avenue
	Certified Survey Map - Casey's General Store - 2240 Cranston Road
	Conditional Use Permit - Casey's General Store - 2240 Cranston Road
	Sign Ordinance Exception - Casey's General Store - 2240 Cranston Road

